

LAPORAN KESELURUHAN SKIM GERAN PENYELIDIKAN FUNDAMENTAL (FRGS/1/2017/TK10/UMP/03/2)



Mechanism of Pleurotus Ostreatus (Oyster Mushroom) Cultivation on Various Lignocellulosic Wastes using Empty Fruit Bunch, Palm Press Fibre and Corncob

> Name of Project Leader: Fathie binti Ahmad Zakil

Name of co-researchers: 1. Dr. Norida binti Ridzuan 2. PM Dr. Kamal bin Yusoh 3. Dr. Jun Haslinda binti Shariffuddin 4. Dr. Khairatun Najwa binti Mohd Amin 5. PM Dr. Ruzinah binti Isha 6. Dr. Sariah binti Saalah

IPTA/ Faculty / School/ Centre/Unit : Universiti Malaysia Pahang E-mail: fathie@ump.edu.my FRGS Field: Technology and Engineering (Green Technology)

ABSTRACT

The utilization of low value agro-industrial waste as valuable end product has become a key research priority in the recent years. Currently, the commercial cultivation of Pleurotus ostreatus using sawdust from rubber tree as the base substrate in Malaysia has been reported. However, the price and demand of the rubber tree sawdust (RS) have been increasing, affecting the overall production cost. Thus, a new inexpensive alternative substrate yet as effective as rubber tree sawdust is needed to replace the RS as the base substrate for the cultivation of P. ostreatus. It is found that the growth and yield performance of *P.otreatus* are dependent on C/N ratio of the substrate. The substrates that contain empty fruit bunch (EFB), palm pressed fibre (PPF), sugarcane bagasse (SGB), corn cob (CC) in the ratio of 0.25 w/w and 0.5 w/w with rubber tree sawdust (RS) gave better the mycelium rate, fastest pinhead and fruiting bodies formations as well as the yields and BE (%) than 0.75 w/w and 1 w/w with RS and resulting the optimum C/N ratio for mushroom to growth well. The substrate of 25% PPF + 25%SGB + 50% (RS) resulting the best formulation in term of growth performance, yield and BE (%) are at 35 days for first harvest, 318.88 g/kg substrate and 79.72% respectively compared to other formulations of the substrates. However, the other combinations of the substrates also have a tremendous potential to be as an alternative substrate for mushroom cultivation in Malaysia. The particle size, C/N ratio, pH, moisture content significantly affects the growth of *P. ostreatus* and mineral content on the substrates. The advantages of using the biomass generated from the palm oil mills which is available throughout the year at little and no cost, and sugarcane bagasse that abundance in the rural and urban areas in Malaysia will not only solve the environmental pollution problem, but it can also offer an economically promising way to convert low quality biomasses into a valuable high protein food for human and also can help further income generation to the mushroom growers.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABST	RACT	i
TABL	E OF CONTENTS	ii
LIST	OF TABLES	iv
LIST	OF FIGURES	v
CHAP	TER 1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1	Background of the Study	1
1.2	Problem Statement	3
1.3	Objectives of the Study	5
1.4	Scope of the Study	6
1.5	Rationale and Significance of the Study	7
СНАР	TER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1	Agricultural Wastes	9
	2.1.1 Oil Palm Wastes	10
	2.1.2 Sugarcane Bagasse (SGB)	11
	2.1.3 Corncob (CC)	12
2.2	Spent Mushroom Substrates (SMS)	14
2.3	World Mushroom Production	14
2.4	Description and Classification for Pleurotus ostreatus	17
2.5	Nutritional Requiremnet for Pleurotus ostreatus Growth	18
2.6	Pleurotus ostreatus Cultivation Techniques	19
2.7	Combination of Agricultural Substrates used for Pleurotus ostreatus Cultivation	20
2.8	Compositions of Mushroom Fruiting Bodies	23

CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

3.1	Introduction	24
3.2	Materials and Chemicals	24
3.3	Instruments/Equipments	26

3.4	Apparatus		
3.5	Resea	28	
3.6	Characterization of Agricultural Wastes		
	3.6.1	Ultimate Analysis	31
	3.6.2	Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)	32
	3.6.3	Analysis of Metal Composition	32
	3.6.4	Determination of Oil Content in EFB, PPF, SGB and C	CC 33
3.7	Exper	imental Procedure	35
	3.7.1	Preparation of the Substrates	35
	3.7.2	Bags Sterilization	37
	3.7.3	Inoculation/Spawning	37
	3.7.4	Incubation	38
	3.7.5	Scraping and Watering	38
	3.7.6	Harvesting Process	38
3.8	Exper	imental Analysis	39
	3.8.1	Substrates Analysis	39
	3.8.2	Fruiting Body Analysis	40
		3.8.2.1 Mycelia Growth and Pin Head Determination	40
		3.8.2.2 Fresh Mushroom Yield and Morphology	40
		3.8.2.3 Biological Efficiency (B.E)	41
		3.8.2.4 Fruiting Body Composition Analysis	41
CHAI	PTER 4	4 FINDINGS	
4.1	Agric	ultural Wastes Charcaterization	42
	4.1.1	CHNS Analysis	42
4.2	Effect	t on Different Substrates Compositions	43
4.3	Substrates Analysis		
4.4	Fruiti	ng Bodies Analysis	47

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1	Conclusion	49
5.2	Recommendation	50

CHAPTER 6 ACHIEVEMENT

6.1	Name of articles/manuscripts/books published	51
6.2	Tittle of paper presentations (international/local)	
6.3	Human Capital Development	52
6.4	Awards/Others	52
REFE	RENCES	53
APPE	NDIX	
APPE	NDIX A - Photos of oyster mushroom growth	60
BUDG	ET	64
	UMP	

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Tittle	Page
Table	2.1	Cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin content in sawdust,	11
		PPF and EFB	
Table	2.2	Carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen and sulphur content in	11
		Sawdust <mark>, PPF and EFB</mark>	
Table	2.3	The characteristics of sugarcane bagasse	12
Table	2.4	The lignocellulose content in sugarcane bagasse	13
Table	2.5	The characteristics of corncob	13
Table	2.6	Techniques and ratios involved in mushroom cultivation	20
Table	2.7	Combination of agricultural substrates applied in	22
		Pleurotus spp. cultivation	
Table	3.1	List of materials and chemicals	25
Table	3.2	The list of instruments/equipments including its description	26
Table	3.3	List of apparatus	27
Table	3.4	Composition of different mass ratio of the substrate	36
Table	3.5	Charcoal addition in substrate mixture composition	36
Table	3.6	Spent mushroom substrate (SMS) for mushroom production	n 37
Table	4.1	Element Analysis of RS, EFB, PPF and SGB	42
Table	4.2	Yield for every flushes and biological efficiency of	45
		different substrates	
Table	4.3	Chemical properties of substrates compositions	46
Table	4.4	Nutritional contents (%) and Energy (kcal/100g) of	47
		P. ostreatus for first flush	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	2	Tittle	Page
Figure	2.1	World edible mushroom production	15
		(% of world's total output) by genus (2013)	
Figure	2.2	World mushroom production in 2014	16
Figure	2.3	The structure of oyster mushroom	18
Figure	3.1	Research methodology process flow	30
Figure	3.2	Soxhlet extraction	34
Figure	3.3	Rotary evaporator	34
Figure	3.4	The collection of EFB, PPF, SGB and CC	35
Figure	4.1	Average days for completion of spawn running,	44
		first pinhead formation and first fruiting body format	ion



CHAPTER 1



1.1 Background of the Study

Pleurotus ostreatus also known, as oyster mushroom belong to the class Basidiomycetes and family Agaricaceae and it is the second widely cultivated mushroom worldwide after *Agaricus bisporus* (Aida et al., 2009). (Haimid et al., 2013) had reported that the *P. ostreatus* is the most cultivated mushroom contributing to 90.89 % of the total mushroom cultivated in Malaysia. It has high nutritional values as an important source of protein, carbohydrates, vitamins, calcium, and iron (Dündar et al., 2010). *P. ostreatus* is a fungus that can be cultivated on various lignocellulosic substrates due to its lignocellulolytic enzymes which degrade the lignocellulosic matters into useful carbohydrates for the fungi (Ali et al., 2018). Therefore, any types of organic matters that consist of lignocelluloses such as hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin can be used for oyster mushroom substrates, and this includes almost all agro-industrial wastes in Malaysia.

At present, Malaysia accounts for an overwhelming contribution to world's oil palm production and export which is 39% and 44%, respectively (A. S. A. F. Alam et al., 2015). Though, palm oil industry has boosted the national economy in Malaysia, it also generated abundant of oil palm biomass, including empty fruit bunches (EFBs) and palm pressed fibres (PPFs). For every tonne of palm oil produced from fresh fruit bunch (FFB), approximately 1 tonne of oil palm empty fruit bunch (EFB), 0.7 tonnes

oil palm fibers, 0.3 tonnes of palm kernels and 0.3 tonnes of palm shells were generated (S. H. Chang, 2014). In particular, EFB is the residual fruit bunch generated after fruits are removed from the FFB (Ahmad Naim et al., 2017) while the PPF is a form of recovered fibrous residue from palm fruit during palm oil extraction and accounts for about 11% of the fresh fruit bunch (Riansa-ngawong et al., 2011). The fruit fiber has been shown to possess high potential to be used as mushroom growing substrate without any further treatment (Abd Razak et al., 2013). The preparation of the substrates can be directly inoculated with little pre-treatment, whereas in some cases, they required microbiologically and physically pre-treatment of substrate generally comprises some form of controlled bulk composting process, while physical pre-treatment may include sterilization by autoclaving.

Besides solid wastes from palm oil mill industries, the sugarcane bagasse (SGB) and corn cob (CC) also are available in abundance both in rural and urban areas, in Malaysia. All these kinds of wastes generally have high content of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin that can be upgraded to higher value-added products instead of being disposed consequently generating green houses and global warming.

Presently, in Malaysia, the commercial cultivation of *P. ostreatus* utilises rubber tree sawdust (RS) as the base medium. However, the high demand of RS leads to increasing price and has become a serious problem to the mushroom growers in particular *P. ostreatus* that requires carbon, nitrogen and other inorganic compounds for its nutritional sources. PPF, EFB, SGB and CC have high contents of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin for carbohydrates or carbon source in order to ensure the *P. ostreatus* grows well (Mohd Tabi et al., 2008). Therefore, the EFB, PPF and SGB acquire great potentials to be an alternative substrate in the cultivation of *P. ostreatus* in the future and at the same time, able to solve the solid waste abundance and environmental issues in Malaysia.

In the present study, four locally available organic wastes; PPF, EFB, SGB and CC will be utilized for the cultivation of *P. ostreatus*. The influence of these agricultural wastes on the mycelium growth, yield, biological efficiency and nutrient compositions of the fruit bodies will be evaluated.

1.2 Problem Statements

In Malaysia, large volumes of unused lignocellulosic agricultural wastes can be found. These agricultural wastes are left to rot in the field or are disposed of through burning. Oil palm is one of the main important commodity products that become as transformation agent to the scenario of agricultural sector and economy in Malaysia (DOSM, 2016). The presence of wastes from oil palm plantation has created a major disposal problem such as open burning and in situ dumping. Currently, most of EFB are used as soil mulching as organic fertiliser to the plantation, otherwise, dumped in the same manner as palm oil mill effluent (POME) (Ng et al., 2012) while most of PPF are used as fuels to generate steam and electricity for the palm oil mills (Mohd Tabi et al., 2008). Indiscriminate dumping of EFB causes additional methane emission into the atmosphere (Mohd Tabi et al., 2008). An alternative application of agricultural wastes is needed in order to minimize the waste generation and protect the environment from being polluted.

Sugarcane bagasse (SGB) is another agricultural residue created after juice extraction from sugarcane industries in Malaysia. SGB creates the environmental nuisance due to direct disposal on the open lands and forms garbage heaps in that area (Abdulkadir et al., 2014). Besides, the sugarcane bagasse also is used as fuel source (Mosisa et al., 2015). In general, one metric ton of sugarcane bagasse generates 280kg of bagasse, the fibrous by-product remaining after sugar extraction from sugarcane (Sun et al., 2004). To reduce the environmental burden, the usage of agricultural wastes ought to be looked into.

Corncob (CC) also is another residue in Malaysia that are an abundant waste which are easily available throughout the year. In 2012, the production of corn in Malaysia was 52,481 tons, and in the subsequent year, it increased by about 5% to 55,000 tons (ShariffAzizIsmiza Ismail et al., 2016). In 2013, Malaysia ranked 113 out of 165 corn producing countries (Factfish, 2015). Therefore, the CC waste will increase per year and it will pollute the environment if it is not being controlled.

There is a high demand for oyster mushroom in Malaysia (almost 50 t/day) due to its nutritional values and antioxidant property (Mohd Zaffrie et al., 2014). However,

the current production rate of mushroom is about 24 tonnes/day (Mohd Zaffrie et al., 2014). In order to increase the yield and quality of mushroom, it is hypothesized that charcoal can act as a growth supporting material to boost up the growth and quality of mushroom for this study. Since in the charcoal has more carbon, it will be expected to increase the carbon content in the substrates, so that, the ratio of the carbon to nitrogen will be expected to be more optimum for oyster mushroom to grow.

Moreover, series of problems also arises in mushroom industries whereby generation and management of spent mushroom substrate (SMS) become a big challenge to the farmers. SMS can be defined as leftover of biomass generated by commercial mushroom industries after harvesting period of mushroom. Additionally, the medium-scale mushroom industry is capable of producing approximately 13.6 million tonnes per year of spent mushroom substrate (SMS) after the harvest cycle (Phan et al., 2012). The current practices substrate which is sawdust is not suitable to be used as animal feedstock and fertilisers, and it end up dumped and burned in situ (Park et al., 2012) due to the low nutrient composition. Hence, to minimize the problem, sawdust substrate should be substitute with lignocellulosic substrates such as corn cob, sugarcane bagasse, palm wastes, or crop wastes, as to minimize the wastes from mushroom industry. Mushroom cultivation using agricultural wastes promises a good quality of SMS for producing beneficial products such as animal feeding and fertilizers (Mohd Hanafi et al., 2018).

There are another two major problems faced by our local mushroom growers. Firstly, the limited supply of sawdust and lead to increasing price mostly due to the competition from other industries. Second, sawdust supplies are often mixed with chemicals used in the processing industry. The tainted supply of sawdust affected mushroom growth such as low yield, high percentage of contamination and unsynchronized flushing patterns. Therefore, it is imperative that other sources of substrates be utilized for mushroom cultivation. Mushroom commercial industries in Pekan, Pahang experienced approximately 15% contamination rate in every 1000 beds per production using the commercial substrates which is RS. Besides, *Pleurotus spp.* is categorized as fungi and very prone to contamination. Contamination occurs probably because of the techniques and handling methods used are unhygienic. Therefore,

assessments from other substrate need to be done to overcome the shortage and contamination of RS.

Most of the studies conducted in Malaysia only emphasized on a single output, for instance, mushroom cultivation by using agricultural wastes (Ali et al., 2013). There are limitations in research especially on the use of agricultural wastes as mushroom substrate and the percentage of waste recovered from the harvesting period of mushroom.

1.3 Objective of the Study

The main aim of this study is to formulate the composition of mushroom substrate by using four different agricultural wastes such as EFB, PPF, SGB and CC. The following are the objectives to achieve the research aim:

- a) To characterize the sample of agricultural wastes such as empty fruit bunch (EFB), palm pressed fibre (PPF), sugarcane bagasse (SGB), corncob (CC), rubber tree sawdust (RS) and spent mushroom substrates (SMS) and sample of charcoal.
- b) To study the effect of substrates and mass ratio of various agricultural wastes including EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and RS for *Pleurotus ostreatus* cultivation by comparing the mycelium growth and total yield of fresh mushroom.

1.4 Scope of the Study

In order to achieve the mentioned objectives, the following scopes are defined:

- a) The EFB, PPF, SGB, CC, RS, SMS and charcoal are characterized to determine their carbon, nitrogen, hydrogen and sulphur using CHNS analyzer. The thermal stability of EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and RS will be done using Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA). The elemental analysis of the EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and RS will be done using X-ray Fluorescence (XRF).
- b) The effect of different media mass ratio of all these agricultural wastes to RS are done in a range of 100:0, 75:25, 50:50, 25:75 and 0:100. The mixtures are packed in a plastic bag and sterilised prior to spawning process. Then, the baglogs are incubated. The mycelium growth rate, the number of days for pin head formation, fruiting body yield and harvest time, physical characteristics such as the cap diameter and thickness, the stipe length and thickness and the total fruiting body yield per kg of an alternative substrate of *P. ostreatus* are determined. The percentage of EFB, PPF, SGB and CC waste recovered are calculated.
- c) The nutrient composition of *P. ostreatus* fruiting bodies of these five experimented substrates; RS, EFB, PPF, SGB and CC are compared in order to determine the most nutritious mushroom using proximate analysis.
- d) The mineral content of *P. ostreatus* fruiting bodies of these five experimented substrates; RS, EFB, PPF, SGB and CC are compared in order to trace any heavy metals using Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS).

e) The moisture content, pH, substrates (RS, EFB, PPF, SGB and CC) and additional nutrients used in cultivation (wheat bran and limestone) and *P*. *ostreatus* spawn will be constant variables along the study.

1.6 Rationale and Significance of the Study

The significance of this study is to utilize abandoned waste from palm oil plantations, sugarcane and corn field as mushroom substrate in order to reduce the generation of agricultural wastes from burning and open dumping. Besides, mushroom cultivation using agricultural wastes promises a good quality of spent mushroom substrate (SMS) for producing beneficial products such as animal feeding and fertilizers (Mohd Hanafi et al., 2018).

Currently, Malaysia contributes about 30% of production and 37% of world exports contributing to the growth of gross domestic product (GDP) (Kushairi, 2017). The oil only contributes about 10% of the total dry matter of the palms; the remaining 90% being oil palm biomass (OPB) (Soh Kheang et al., 2013). About 80 million tonnes of OPB has been generated in 2010 but it is expected to increase to 100 million tonnes in year 2020 (Malaysia, 2013). The OPB includes empty fruit bunch (EFB), oil palm trunk (OPT), oil palm frond (OPF), oil palm kernel shell (OPKS), and mesocarp fibre, which are not fully utilised as a renewable source (Theo et al., 2017).

Besides solid wastes from palm oil mill industries, the SGB and CC also are available in abundance both in rural and urban in Malaysia. All these kinds of wastes generally have high content of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin that can be upgraded to higher value-added products instead of being disposed consequently generating green houses and global warming.

Mushroom cultivation also is one of the immense potential agricultural activities in Malaysia. High valued crop in terms of both food and medicine aspects with low cost production technology can bring high return within short time interval. Mushroom farming in Malaysia is suitable due to its climatic conditions. The attractive factor towards mushroom farming is the short time period between cultivation and harvesting and it can be grown with locally available resources (Poudel, 2014). Moreover, under the Economic Transformation Program (ETP), biomass from oil palm industries have been highlighted as the nation's premier niche National Key Economic Areas (NKEAs) (Jabatan, 2013). The utilization of palm biomass is increasing significantly over time, which creates a symbiotic situation where the "previous waste" serves as the input for other industries, leading the palm oil industry to a zero-waste path (Ng et al., 2012). Interestingly, the Malaysian government has declared mushroom farming as one of the eleven under agriculture business opportunities under the National Key Economic Area (PEMANDU, 2011).

Therefore, mushroom cultivation is the easiest way to reduce the abundant of agricultural wastes in Malaysia. From the previous study, the result indicated that high yield of mushroom can be produced by using agricultural wastes as mushroom substrate (Ali et al., 2018). Furthermore, the mushroom cultivation can generate the fast income for the farmers and the country as mushroom has a short growth time and the can grow local available sources (Crosby, 2016).

Moreover, this study will provide an alternative to recycle and recover abundant of agricultural waste to another beneficial products. Reuse and recovering agricultural wastes in mushroom life-cycle will be concluded as promoting a zero-waste discharge; hence, this is important to the farmers to practice in agriculture sector. In addition, this study will not only help the country in controlling environmental pollution through the zero waste initiatives, but it can also will offer an economically promising way to convert low quality biomasses into a valuable high protein food for human and also can help further income generation to the mushroom growers.



CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Agricultural Wastes

Agricultural wastes are basically unusable substances which may be either liquid or solid produced as result of cultivation processes such as fertilizers, pesticides, crop residues and animal waste (Shehrawat et al., 2015). Generally, solid agricultural waste residues are consisted of cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin and also pectin, starch and other polysaccharides and are insoluble in water (Thomsen, 2005). The wastes derived from agricultural activities are cost effective, renewable, abundant produced and can be used as a resource for sustainable production of food and value-added food products. Expensive treatments or disposal is required if these wastes are not recycled or used to generate a value-added product (Wang et al., 2007). According to (Elly Sabiiti, 2011), in line with the increasing in the world's population, the demand for food supplies has significantly increase and this has eventually resulted in the production of large amounts of agricultural wastes.

2.1.2 Oil Palm Wastes

Malaysia currently accounts for 39% of the world's palm oil production and 44% of the world's exports, being one of the biggest producers and exporters of palm oil and palm oil products (Tan et al., 2018). The palm oil industry is capable of generating a vast quantity of palm biomass, in line with the growth of the industry. Basically, oil palm biomass can be generated from two different sources, namely from plantations and the mills. Biomass from the plantation is mainly in the form of trunks and fronds while biomass from the mills consists of empty fruit bunches (EFB), palm pressed fibre (PPF), palm kernel shell and palm oil mill effluent (POME). These biomasses are produced daily

throughout the year. In general, the PPF are burnt to generate steam for the mills and the EFB normally be returned to the plantations (Abas et al., 2011). On average, for every tonne of Fresh Fruit Bunches (FFB) processed, of 230-250 kg of Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB), 130-150 kg of fiber, 60-65 kg of shell and 55-60 kg of kernel and 160-200 kg of unrefined oil were produced (Latif Ahmad et al., 2003). In short, oil palm plantation has the potential to yield a very large amount of biomass which is very rich in plant nutrient to be used for the production of renewable products. The large quantity of biomass produced by oil palm plantation each year and their high nutritional values make these wastes a very promising source of substrate for mushroom production.

In Malaysia, sawdust is currently used as the main substrate for cultivation of edible and medicinal mushroom. EFB and PPF are of equivalent standard as sawdust to be used in mushroom cultivation, based on their percentage of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin content as shown in Table 2.1. Table 2.2 shows the carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen and sulphur content in sawdust, EFB and PPF.

10

Composition	Cellulose,	Hemicellulose Content (%)	& Lignin
	Sawdust ^a	PPF ^b	EFB ^c
Cellulose	42-49	30.2	40
Hemicellulose	23-34	23.2	23
Lignin	20-26	22.9	16
Extractives	3-8	-	-
Ash	0.2-0.8	-	-

Table 2.1: Cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin content in sawdust, PPF and EFB

Source: a; (Manaila et al., 2016), b; (Ponthein et al., 2011), c; (Intasit et al.,

2019)

Table 2.2: Carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen and sulphur content in sawdust, PPF and EFB

Sample	Carbon (%)	Hydrogen (%)	Nitrogen (%)	Sulphur
				(%)
EFB ^a	45.29	5.06	1.20	0.35
PPF ^a	45.47	5.73	1.29	0.36
Rubber Tree	43.27	6.83	0.39	-
Sawdust ^b				

Source: a; (Sulaiman et al., 2014),b; (Shaaban et al., 2013)

IMP.

2.1.2 Sugarcane Bagasse (SGB)

Sugarcane bagasse is a residue produced in large quantities by sugar industries. In general, one metric ton of sugarcane bagasse generates 280kg of bagasse, the fibrous by-product remaining after sugar extraction from sugarcane (Sun et al., 2004). Production of sugar cane is concentrated in the Northwest of peninsular Malaysia in the states of Perlis and Kedah. This area has a distinct dry season needed for cost-efficient sugarcane production. However, the sugarcane plantation has been stopped in 2011 and replaced with palm oil tree plantation.

In the sugar industry, sugarcane bagasse is more related as the by-product in sugarcane mills. After the sugarcane is pressed to remove sucrose or known as table sugar, the residue is called as sugarcane bagasse which contains highly fibrous residue. After the sucrose removal, the bags are generated and its accumulation presents as a waste problem for sugar industry. A portion of the sugarcane bagasse produced in the sugar manufacturing process is commonly burned in boilers as a fuel source (Talha et al., 2016). Some factories utilize natural gas or gasoline as their fuel (Mehryar et al., 2017). Sugarcane bagasse also has been used in boards, pulp and paper production, and animal feeding (Mehryar et al., 2017).

Growing mushrooms on a substrate of sugarcane bagasse is one of the solutions to transform these inedible wastes into accepted edible biomass of high market and food of high nutritional value. In the process of utilizing these wastes, environmental pollution from the disposal of these wastes will be reduced. Table 2.3 and 2.4 shows the characteristics of sugarcane bagasse for oyster mushroom cultivation.

Analysis	Amount in sugarcane
	bagasse (%)
Proximate analysis	
Moisture content	1.14
Ash	1.42
Volatile matter content	69.99
Fixed Ccrbon	16.39
Elemental analysis	
Carbon	44.1
Nitrogen	0.2
Hydrogen	5.70
Sulphur	2.30
Oxygen	47.70

Table 2.3: The characteristics of sugarcane bagasse (Anukam et al., 2014)

Analysis	Amount in sugarcane bagasse (%)
Lignocellulose	
Cellulose	45.5
Hemicellulose	27
Lignin	21.1
Extractives	4.6
Ashes	2.2

Table 2.4: The lignocellulose content in sugarcane bagasse (Rocha et al., 2011)

2.1.3 Corncob (CC)

In Malaysia, corn residues are an abundant waste which are easily available throughout the year. In 2012, the production of corn in Malaysia was 52,481 tons, and in the subsequent year, it increased by about 5% to 55,000 tons (ShariffAzizIsmail et al., 2016). For every 1 kg of dry corn grains produced, about 0.15 kg of cobs, 0.22 kg of leaves and 0.50 kg of stalks are produced (Sokhansanj et al., 2002). Usually, the corn wastes such as corn cob and corn stovers are left on the ground of the farm or found littering the streets of the stall or market (Ogunjobi et al., 2013). Table 2.5 shows the characteristics of corncob for oyster mushroom cultivation.

Table 2.5: The characteristics of corncob (ShariffAzizIsmail et al., 2016)		
Analysis	Amount in corn cob (%)	
Proximate analysis		
Moisture content	7.15	
Ash content	1.05	
Volatile matter content	87.76	
Fixed carbon	11.19	
Elemental analysis		

Carbon	43.81		
Nitrogen	6.54		
Hydrogen	0.77		
Sulphur	0.69		
Oxygen	48.19		
Lignocellulose			
Cellulose	45.88		
Hemicellulose	39.4		
Lignin	11.32		
pH	5.44		

2.2 Spent Mushroom Substrates (SMS)

Spent mushroom substrate (SMS) is a bulky biomass byproduct of mushroom commercial industries and produced abundantly (Oei et al., 2007). Approximately, 5 kg of SMS is produced for each kilogram of fresh mushroom fruiting bodies (Lin et al., 2014). The huge amount of SMS in the mushroom farm is the biggest challenge for disposal management (Aziera et al., 2015). Conventionally, majority of SMS is either spread on the farmland as fertilizer, disposed of in situ or incineration (Williams et al., 2001). Based on the literature, many researchers attempted in finding the solution for minimizing SMS generation by using them as ruminant feeding (Gimeno et al., 2015; Rezaei et al., 2015)

2.3 World Mushroom Production

Mushroom production fits in very well with sustainable farming as it uses agricultural waste products, high production per surface area can be obtained, and the spent substrate is still a good soil conditioner (Rao et al., 2018). There are three categories of mushroom available in industries which are edible mushrooms, medicinal mushroom products, and wild mushrooms (S. T. Chang, 2006). There are six major types (genera) of mushroom which contribute around 90% in total world production (Figure 2.1). Lentinula is the most widely grown mushroom accounting for over 2 million tons. The second most widely grown mushroom is Pleurotus spp. accounting around 0.4 million tons. Auricularia spp. is a close third, with six cultivated species; accounting 73840 tons constitute 18% of the world's total output while Agaricus bisporus contributes around 15% accounting 11076 tons. The other two genera, Flammulina and Volvariella are responsible for 11% and 5% of the world's total output, respectively. Among the six Lentinula, Pleurotus and Agaricus are cultivated worldwide while the other three are grown almost exclusively in Asia (D. Royse et al., 2017; D. J. Royse, 2014)



Figure 2.1: World edible mushroom production (% of world's total output) by genus (2013) (Raut, 2019)

According to (D. J. Royse, 2014), world production has increased more than 18fold in the last 32 years, from about 350,000 metric tons in 1965 to about 6,160,800 metric tons in 1997 and consumption of mushrooms has increased at a rapid rate, especially since the mid-1990s. Not only has production and consumption increased as the world's population has increased, but per capita consumption of mushrooms has increased as well. Over a 15-year period (1997 to 2012), per capita consumption of mushrooms increased from about 1 kg/year to over 4 kg/year.

Asian countries produce more than 74.64% of world mushroom markets followed by Europe (19.63%) respectively in 2014 (FAO, 2015) (Figure 2.2). In recent years, about 40% of total world mushroom are exported from China as the world's biggest producer of mushroom. However, 95% of the total China production is for domestic consumption, In 2013, Shiitake had the best demand for mushroom consumption in China about 22.5%, followed by Grey Oyster mushroom 18.9% and Wood ear mushroom 16.8% (M. Li et al., 2014). With the largest markets, mushrooms widely cultivated only by small-scale farmers (M. Li et al., 2014). The demand for mushrooms has been phenomenal – production to meet the growing demand is a performance seldom duplicated in agriculture today.



Figure 2.2: World mushroom production in 2014 (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2015)

Recent scenario revealed that oyster mushroom (*Pleurotus* spp.) production increased from time to time. China, South Korea, Japan, and Indonesia are the major producers. At present, *Pleurotus* spp. has become the second most important cultivated mushroom of the total world production. A considerable shift has occurred in the

composite of genera that constitute the mushroom supply. China is the biggest producer of mushroom in the world and record in 2005 showed that China produced 11.6 million tons of fresh mushrooms, of about 75% of the world's total production (Oei et al., 2007). Whereas, according to (Mohd Zaffrie et al., 2014), mushroom demand in Malaysia is approximately about 50tons/day every day.

2.4 Description and Classification of *Pleurotus ostretaus*

Oyster mushroom (*Pleurotus ostreatus*.) belonging to Class Basidiomycetes and Family Agaricaceae and grows naturally in the temperate and tropical forests on dead and decaying wooden logs or sometimes on dying trunks of deciduous or coniferous woods (Randive, 2012). It may also grow on decaying organic matter. This is because they lack of chlorophyll so they cannot prepare their own food. The fruit bodies of this mushroom are distinctly shell or spatula shaped with different shades of white, cream, grey, yellow, pink or light brown depending upon the species.

Mushroom can be classified into saprotrophic, mycorrhizal, parasitic and endophytic. *Pleurotus ostreatus* is categorized as saprotrophic. Saprotrophic mushrooms are decomposers. They release acids and enzymes that break down dead tissue into smaller molecules they can absorb. Thus, decaying wood, plants, and even animals can become food for a saprotroph.

The plant body of mushroom contains two major parts which is mycelium (underground part) and fruiting body (reproductive part or basidiocarp). Mycelium is the underground vegetative part of mushroom which consist of the mass of muscle-branched hypae. It absorbs the food materials from organic matters where it grows. The fruiting body is the main body of the mushroom above the ground and it contain several part which are pileus (umbrella-like structure that protects growing basidiospores), stipe (give support for pileus), annulus (structure formed when pileus separates from stipe as mushroom grow up) and gills (the place where the basidiocarp grows). Figure 2.3 show the morphology of the mushroom.



Figure 2.3: The structure of oyster mushroom

2.5 Nutritional Requirement for *Pleurotus ostretaus* Growth

The ability of a fungus to synthesize enzymes to degrade the substrate is influenced by the strain, substrate composition and nitrogen concentration in the cultivation medium (Elisashvili et al., 2008; Stajić et al., 2006). The substrate on which the mushroom is grown should supply specific nutrients required for oyster cultivation and the main nutritional sources for oyster mushrooms are cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin (Kang, 2004). Cellulose and hemicelluloses which are the main sources of carbohydrates for oyster mushrooms are often incrusted within lignin, which forms a physical seal around cellulose and hemicelluloses and the proportion of these three structural components along with nitrogen content of residues affect mycelia growth, mushroom quality and crop yield (Philippoussis et al., 2011). The strategy of the oyster mushroom is to decompose the lignin in wood so as to gain access to the cellulose and hemicelluloses embedded in the lignin matrix (Philippoussis et al., 2011). Oyster mushrooms require more carbon and less nitrogen, however most of the substrates must be supplemented with nitrogen source to reach optimal C/N ratio for the mushroom

(Philippoussis et al., 2011). For oyster mushroom cultivation, the initial C/N ratio ranges from 80 to 100/1 when carried out under natural conditions (de Carvalho et al., 2012).

Common additional nutrients used in cultivation are lime hydrated agriculture $(CaCO_3)$, and rice/wheat bran as a nutrient supplement on the dry weight basis of the substrates (Lalithadevy V et al., 2014; Pathmashini et al., 2009). The percentage of rice bran used significantly affected the fruit body yield of *Pleurotus spp*. (Chae et al., 2013). CaCO₃ was added as to adjust the pH value of substrates. The optimal substrate pH value for mycelial growth is 6.5 until 7, though mycelium can survive between pH 4.0 and 7.0. The mycelium grows slowly as the pH lowers and stops growing at pH 4. If the pH is higher than the optimal value, mycelial growth accelerates but produces an abnormal structure. Optimal pH for primordial induction and fruiting is 5 until 5.5 though it is possible at 5.5 until 7.8.

According to (S. T. Chang et al., 2004), the appropriate moisture in the substrate should encompass a range between 50% and 75% in the substrate, enabling the satisfactory growth of *Pleurotus spp*. Moisture above 70% makes the development of diseases and competing molds possible (Bellettini et al., 2019). Meanwhile, the relative humidity of the culture room should be maintained at 80–85% by spraying water three times per day (Júnior et al., 2016). Then, the substrates were sterilized at 100°C for about 8 hours. Based on the literature, suitable sterilization period is being identified by many studies which used period of 100°C for in 8 hours. Then, the substrates were placed in an incubation room maintained at 25°C and relative humidity at 85% until mushrooms can be harvested (Marlina et al., 2015).

2.6 Pleurotus ostreatus Cultivation Techniques

There were four stages of mushroom growth which are spawn run, primordial formation, and harvesting (X. Li et al., 2001). Mushrooms grow on decayed organic matters rich in lignin, cellulose, and other complicated carbohydrates. The oyster mushroom, *Pleurotus ostreatus* is characterized by its rapid growth on agro-wastes such

as olive cake, tomato stuff, pine needles, wheat straw, banana leaves, a leaf of hazelnut, cotton waste, maize stover, palm oil and other wastes. Substrates that are used in cultivating mushrooms have an effect on the chemical, functional, and organoleptic characteristics of mushrooms. Mixing agro wastes at different ratios enhances the productivity of oyster mushroom. Protein content and other nutrients were found to vary in the mushroom fruiting bodies when grown on different agrowastes (Alananbeh et al., 2014).

Cellulose, lignin, and carbon-nitrogen ratios are found to be positively correlated with mycelium growth and yield for *Pleurotus spp*. respectively (Alananbeh et al., 2014). Cultivation of mushroom really needs an intensive care by farmers in order to minimize the contamination rates of mushroom beds. Several techniques were applied by mushroom industry in order to control the mushroom beds from contamination. Table 2.6 shows the techniques for mushroom cultivation using agricultural wastes in different countries.

Mushroom	Substrates	Ratio	Technique/Method	Country	Reference
species					
Pleurotus	Sawdust	50:50	Chopped, shredded,	Indonesia	(Sudirman
sp.	and EFB		soaked (one night		et al., 2011)
			to gain 75%		
			moisture content)		
	EFB	100	Cut into smaller		(Marlina et
			pieces, dried,		al., 2015)
			shredded		
	Paddy straw	100	Soaked, add 2%	Philippines	(Alfredo B.
		- N	molasses, cover		Villaceran
			with a plastic sheet		Jr. et al.,
			for 5 days		2006)
	Cottonseed	50:50	Used directly after	China	(Yang et al.,
	hull and tea		being extracted in		2015)
	waste		hot water		

Table 2.6: Techniques and ratios involved in mushroom cultivation

Pleurotus		Fruit and	ł	50:50	Cleaned	India	(Lalithadevy
florida		vegetable		100	thoroughly,		V et al.,
		peel,		fruits and	chopped, sundried,		2014)
		sawdust		vegetable	stored in airtight		
				wastes	and sterilized gunny		
					bags		
Pleurotus		Weed plant	s	50:50	Dried the weed		(Das et al.,
ostreatus		and padd	y		plants, soaked and		2007)
		straw			drained off the		
					excess water from		
					paddy straw		
	ľ	Sawdust		50:50	Cut, dried, shredded	Malaysia	(Ali et al.,
		and EFB		100			2013)
	ľ	Sawdust		50:50	Dried, shredded		(Ali et al.,
		and PPF		100			2013)

2.7 Combination of Agricultural Substrates used for *Pleurotus ostreatus* Cultivation

Every mushroom substrate has different nutrient content depending on type of substrates and additional materials. Most abundant wastes from cereal crops such as corn cob, wheat, paddy, sorghum, oat, and barley are high in protein and suitable for mushroom growth (Phan et al., 2012). In addition, *Pleurotus spp.* are able to colonize various types of agricultural wastes which contain cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin (Ali et al., 2013).

Several agricultural residues have been used in mushroom cultivation. Most of the agricultural residues such as sugarcane bagasse, maize straw, maize cob, palm products and sawdust are wasted, while majority constitute an environmental hazard. One of the best uses is to use them as growth media for mushroom production (Chukwurah et al., 2012). Many studies have shown that mushroom cultivation is one of the easiest and convenient ways to reduce agricultural wastes and resulted in edible fresh mushrooms compared to using rubber trees sawdust (Carabajal et al., 2012; Dündar et al., 2008; Mohd Tabi et al., 2008). Mushroom beds residue from lignocellulosic biomass such as paddy straw, wheat straw, EFB and many others have potential to be used as other product such as, animal feedstock, organic fertilizers, marsh gas, to improve physical structure of the soil, to produce plant hormone and many others (Oei et al., 2007). Table 2.7 presents the combination of agricultural substrates applied in *Pleurotus spp.* cultivation.

Substrates	Mushroom types	References	
Waste paper, peat, chicken	Pleurotus ostreatus	(Chukwurah et al., 2012;	
manure and rice husk;		Das et al., 2007; Mohd	
weed plants; palm kernel		Tabi et al., 2008)	
cake+maize cob; palm			
kernel cake+sawdust;			
maize straw+sawdust;			
EFB+PPF			
Rice straw, wheat straw,	Pleurotus sajor caju	(Pant et al., 2006; Yang et	
sugarcane bagasse, tea		al., 2015)	
waste			
Coffee pulp and wheat	Pleurotus spp.	(Loss et al., 2009)	
straw; maize wastewate			
Rice straw, wheat straw,	Pleurotus pulmanarius	(Pant et al., 2006)	
sugarcane bagasse			
Rice straw, wheat straw,	Pleurotus florida	(Lalithadevy V et al.,	
sugarcane bagasse;		2014; Pant et al., 2006)	
corncob; fruits and			
vegetables peels (sweet			
lime, watermelon, banana)			
Rubber trees sawdust and	Pleurotus eryngii	(Moonmoon et al., 2010)	
rice straw			

Table 2.7: Combination of agricultural substrates applied in *Pleurotus spp.* cultivation

2.8 Composition of Mushroom Fruiting Bodies

Mushroom contains water, crude protein, crude fat, carbohydrates, glycogen, amino acids such as glutamic acid, aspartic acid, lysine and arginine, ash and minerals such as potassium (K), magnesium (Mg), nitrogen (N), iron (Fe), calcium (Ca), and zinc (Zn) (Jonathan et al., 2006; Ouzouni et al., 2009; Reis et al., 2012). (A. S. A. F. Alam et al., 2015) reported that mushroom such as *Pleurotus ostreatus*, *Pleurotus sajor-caju*, *Pleurotus florida* and *Calocybe indica* were rich in proteins (20-25%) and fibers (13-24%), carbohydrates (37-48%), lipid (4-5%) and ash content (8-13%). These findings proved that mushrooms are rich in nutritional value and beneficial to human body.

Besides, *Pleurotus spp*. are very popular and have been proved rich in proteins (20-25%) and fibers (13-24% in dry samples) and contained a lower amount of lipid (4-5%) (N. Alam et al., 2008). Medicinal purposes of mushroom have been confirmed through many researchers conducted worldwide (Aida et al., 2009). Edible mushroom contains vitamin B, vitamin C, and ergosterol (Wisitrassameewong et al., 2012). *Wild sp.* is usually used for medicinal purposes and less energetic than the commercial species. Furthermore, it possesses a high content of phenols but a lower content of ascorbic acid, compared to commercial species (Barros, et. al., 2008).

Mushrooms also low in calories and fat, rich in amino acids, protein, vitamin, chitin, minerals, and high amount of aminobutyric acid, ornithine, ascorbic acid, thiamine, niacin, riboflavin, and folic acid (G. Ramanathan et al., 2013). These nutrients are very crucial for mushroom growth process as a function for mycelia development, substrates performance and yield production. Most abundant wastes from cereal crops such as corn cob, wheat, paddy, sorghum, oat, and barley are high in protein and suitable for mushroom growth (Phan et al., 2012).

Nutrients composition in *Pleurotus spp.* are found very suitable for people with hypertension, obesity, and diabetes, since it possesses low sodium, potassium, starch, fat and calorific value meanwhile folic acid presented in *Pleurotus spp.* is suitable for curing anemia (Randive, 2012).



CHAPTER 3



3.1 Introduction

This chapter describes the methods, materials, chemicals, instruments/equipments and apparatus to achieve the objectives in this study. Before carrying out the study, it is crucial to have some general understanding of the important aspects that involved in the study process. The variables, scope, study area and suitable technique that were required for the analysis process are identified; hence, the research can be conducted in a systematic and orderly manner. The experiments were conducted in Faculty of Chemical and Process Engineering Technology, Universiti Malaysia Pahang. Detailed procedures that were illustrated which focus on cultivation process, techniques, types of instrument/equipment used, data collection and data analysis.

3.2 Materials and Chemicals

Materials and chemical used throughout the study were tabulated in Table 3.1. Empty fruit bunch (EFB), palm press fibers (PPF), sugarcane bagasse (SGB), corn cob (CC) and spent mushroom substrate (SMS) are processed accordingly prior cultivation. These materials were dried under the sun at least one (1) weeks prior grinding. The ground materials were sieved to obtain uniform particles size (1-2 mm) using a sieve tray for better mushroom performances; yield, bioconversion efficiency and substrates performance (Zhang et al., 2002)

Materials/Chemicals	Source/Supplier	Description
Empty fruit bunch (EFB)	Felda Lepar Hilir,	
Palm press fibers (PPF)	Kuantan, Pahang	
Sugarcane bagasse (SGB)	Local farmer in Kuantan,	
	Pahang	Main substrate
Corn cob (CC)	Night market in Kuantan,	Willin Substrate
	Pahang	
Spent mushroom substrate (SMS)		
Rubber tree sawdust (RS)		
Wheat bran		Purposely to balance
		macronutrients and
		micronutrients in the substrate
Lime hydrated agriculture (CaCO3)	Pekan Agro Farm, Pekan,	Balancing the acidity of the
	Pahang	substrate
46 days - Oyster mushroom strains		Culturing purpose of
		Pleurotus ostreatus
Charcoal	Local shop in Kuantan	Additional supplement
Acetone, AR, 2.5 L, Bendosen*	Orioner Hightech Sdn.	As an organic solvent to
	Bhd.	extract the oil contents in
		EFB, PPF, SGB and CC.
Tap water	UMP, Gambang, Pahang	To increase the moisture
		content of the substrate and
	•	watering of the bags in order
		to avoid withering of the
		growing mushrooms.
Distilled water	FTKKP Laboratory	To wash the beaker,
		measuring cylinder and etc.

3.3 Instruments/Equipments

The lists of instrument/equipment that were used in this study including the descriptions of each instrument were presented in Table 3.2.

Instrument/Equipment	Brand	Availability	Description
Industrial Grinder	SIMA	FTKKP, UMP	To grind a material
			such as EFB, PPF,
	-		SGB and CC
CHNS	Elementar, Germany	Central	To obtain the total
		Laboratory,	content of carbon,
		UMP	hydrogen, nitrogen
			and sulphur in
			agricultural wastes
TGA	Thermogravimetric	CARIFF, UMP	To determine
	analysis (TGA) STA-		biomass cellulosic
	7000, Perkin Hitachi		and thermal
			degradation profile
XRF	Rigaku WDXRF ZXS	CARIFF, UMP	To determine the
	Primus II	- /	metal and metal
			oxide
			compositions of
			agricultural wastes
Moisture content	Yueping, China	Central	To determine the
analyzer		Laboratory,	moisture content
		UMP	of the substrates
pH meter	Mettler Toledo, USA	Central	To determine the
	•	Laboratory,	pH value of the
		UMP	substrates

Table 3.2: The list of instruments/equipments including its description

Steamer	Nil	Pekan Agro	To sterilize the
		Farm, Pekan,	mushroom baglos
		Pahang	
Soxhlet extractor	500 ml	FTKKP, UMP	To determine oil
			content in the
			biomass
Rotary evaporator	Nil	FTKKP, UMP	To recover solvent

3.4 Apparatus

All apparatus that was used for the study were tabulated in Table 3.3.

Apparatus Name	Size		
Analytical weight balance	1 kg, 5 kg		
Digital Caliper	Nil		
Paper	Nil		
Storage box	Nil		
Glove	S, M, L		
Polyethylene bag	1200 mL, 1000 g		
PVC Necks	Ø: 20mm		
Cap 4 in 1	Ø: 20mm		
Net Cap 4 in1	Ø: 20mm		
Resting cover	Ø: 20mm		
Beaker	50 ml, 250 ml, 500 ml		
Measuring cylinder	50 ml, 100 ml		
Syringe	5 ml		
Parafilm	4" x 125		

Table 3.3: List of	f apparatus
--------------------	-------------
3.5 Research Methodology

The overall research flow diagram of this study on mushroom cultivation using various agricultural waste was simplified in Figure 3.1. To limit the scope of this study, materials for mushroom substrate were primarily chosen based on the main agricultural activity in Malaysia. There were empty fruit bunch (EFB) palm press fibers (PPF), sugarcane bagasse (SGB), corn cob (CC) and spent mushroom substrate (SMS).

Prior the mushroom cultivation process, the agricultural wastes such as EFB, PPF, SGB, CC, RS and SMS were characterized by using a CHNS analyzer, Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA) and X-ray Fluorescence (XRF). Oil contents determination in the EFB, PPF, SGB and CC were carried out via Soxhlet Extraction process in order to investigate the effect of oil content on mycelium growth rate and mushroom growth.

There were five major steps in mushroom cultivation such as preparation of substrates, sterilization, inculation, incubation period and harvesting process. Firstly, the dry of RS, EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and SMS with uniform particle size (1mm - 2 mm) were used as a fruiting body of *P. ostreatus* either incorporating with RS or in a sole medium. All of substrate formulations were supplemented with the wheat bran and limestone with the ratio of 100:5:1.5 in w/w. After that, the charcoal application either in the sole substrates or in the substrates that incorporating between the RS and agricultural wastes were prepared. A 2% of charcoal from 100% of dry weight of the substrate was added in the substrates. Spent mushroom substrates (SMS), a spent substrate were recycled, were also used. The SMS either in sole or incorporating with the RS, EFB, PPF, SGB and CC that supplemented with wheat bran and limestone were prepared. All substrates were placed in polyethylene bag with 15cm height. The moisture content, pH, substrates (RS, EFB, PPF, SGB and CC) and additional nutrients used in cultivation (wheat bran and limestone) and *P. ostreatus* spawn were constant variables along the study.

Secondly, all the substrate was sterilized using a sterilization chamber at

100°C for eight hours. After the sterilization was done, all the substrates were left to cool down at room temperature prior to the inoculation of *P. ostreatus* process.

Thirdly, a 10 g of spawn was inoculated in every mushroom bed. All the baglogs were subsequently then kept for incubation process at 23°C to 25°C with the relative humidity approximately at 85% until all the baglos were fully colonized by mycelium. Finally, all the mushroom bags were transferred to the mushroom house and the covered of the mushroom bags were opened in order to induce the first fruiting body. The water was sprayed using an automatic sprinkler twice a day. The pin head formation was seen in 2 to 3 days after the mushroom bag cover was opened. The mushroom was matured between 2 to 3 days after the tiny pin head formation were formed. The fresh mushroom was harvested. After the first flush, the mushroom bag was closed for another 7-10 days to induce the second flush. A 3 harvests were collected in this study. The days mycelium growth, the days for pin head and fruiting bodies formations, the total weight of fruiting bodies from three flushes were obtained.

The pH and moisture content of all the mushroom baglogs were analyzed using a pH meter and moisture content analyzer. The morphological parameters, nutrient composition and mineral content of mushroom fruiting bodies by comparing five substrates; RS, EFB, PPF, SGB and CC obtained by using proximate analysis and Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICPMS). The percentage of EFB, PPF, SGB and CC waste recovered also was calculated.



Figure 3.1: Research methodology process flow

3.6 Characterization of Agricultural Wastes

The sample of each type of agricultural wastes were characterized using CHNS analyzer in order to obtain carbon (C), hydrogen (H), nitrogen (N) and sulphur (S) content in EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and RS. Thermal degradation analysis was carried out using Thermal Gravitmetric Analyser (TGA) in order to determine biomass cellulosic and thermal degradation profile. The metal composition analysis of various agricultural wastes was done using X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) analysis. The oil content analysis in EFB, PPF, SGB and CC were performed using soxhlet extraction process.

3.6.1 Ultimate Analysis

The ultimate analysis was conducted to determine the elements present in the agricultural wastes of EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and RS. The CHNS Elemental Analyzer (Elementar, Japan) at Central Laboratory, UMP was used for the analysis according to ASTM D5373-02. The CHNS Elemental Analyzer provides a means for determination the total of carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen and sulphur in organic matrices and other types of material. The CHNS Elemental Analyzer was capable of handling a wide variety of samples, including solids, liquids, volatile samples, in the field of pharmaceuticals, polymers, chemicals and food. The CHNS required high temperature in an oxygen-rich environment. In the combustion process, carbon was converted to carbon dioxide, hydrogen to water, nitrogen to nitrogen oxides and sulphur to sulphur dioxide.

3.6.2 Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)

Thermogravimetric analyzer (TGA) (STA-7000, Hitachi, Japan) was used to determine the thermal stability of the sample by observing the behavior of the weight change at elevated temperature. The sample temperature was normally increased in air or inert gas, such as nitrogen, flow. The TGA was a normal test, where the degradation temperature, moisture content and the decomposition points of organic and inorganic substance was carried out, to determine the characteristics of material.

About 5 to 10 mg of EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and RS was placed in the aluminium pan. The analysis was set using nitrogen at 50mL/min and heating rate at 10°C/min from room temperature to 900°C. Then, the air was used at 900°C for 30 minutes.

3.6.3 Analysis of Metal Composition

Analysis of metal composition for EFB, PPF, SGB, CC and RS was done using X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) analyser. The binder was used to compress the agricultural waste samples into pallet shape. After that, the sample was put in X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) sample case and arranged in the prescribed positions in the machine, then the sample case was located in analysis hole and the result of the metal composition of each sample was displayed after 1 minute on a monitor of a computer interfaced with the machine. This analysis was carried out at CARIFF, UMP.

3.6.4 Determination of Oil Content in EFB, PPF, SGB and CC

The sample of EFB, PPF, SGB and CC was sun dried in order to remove the water content. Then, the sample of EFB, PPF, SGB and CC was grinding into small particle size using the blender. The sample was weighed by using an analytical weight balance.

The extraction of EFB, PPF, SGB and CC was performed using soxhlet extraction method (Figure 3.2). A 15-20 grams of samples (EFB, PPF, SGB and CC) was placed in the porous cellulose thimble. Then, the thimble was placed in the extraction chamber, which was hold above the round bottom flask containing 250 ml of acetone as solvent. The extraction was done at 56°C for 45-60 minutes.

After the extraction process completed, the separation of oil and solvent was carried out using rotary evaporator (Figure 3.3). The mixture of solvent and oil were heated at 56°C until solvent was fully recovered. The obtained oil was then weighted using an analytical weight balance and kept in the sample bottle. The oil content was determined as:

 $Oil \ content \ (\%) = \frac{Oil \ weight \ (g)}{Sample \ weight \ (g)} x \ 100\%$ (3.1)

34



Figure 3.2: Soxhlet extraction



Figure 3.3: Rotary evaporator

3.7 Experimental Procedure

3.7.1 Preparation of the Substrates

The EFB, PPF, SGB and CC that used in the investigation were shown in Figure 3.4. The EFB and PPF were collected from Kilang Sawit Lepar Hilir, Gambang, Pahang, while the SGB was collected at Local Farmers in Kuantan, Pahang and the CC was collected by weekly at Pasar Malam, Gambang, Pahang, respectively. These wastes were collected in massive quantity and dried under the sun to remove water content. The samples were then ground and sieve to obtain 1-2mm samples' size.



The mushroom cultivation process was practiced according to Ali et al., (2013). Cultivation process involve several steps including mixing and packaging, sterilization, inoculation, incubation, scraping, watering, and harvesting.

Dry materials such as sawdust, EFB, PPF, SGB and CC, wheat bran, and lime hydrated agriculture (CaCO₃) were mixed to the mass ratio of 100: 5: 1.5. All materials were combined and mixed thoroughly in a storage box until no lumps of mixture are found and no calcium carbonate are visible. The tap water (80% of the total weight of mixture) was then added into the mixing substrate to increase the moisture content until all the water was absorbed. About 600-700g of each substrate was placed in polyethylene bag with 15 cm height and a volume of 1,178 cm³. The bags of substrate were then compressed and closed with PVC-necks and a cap.

Five different of the substrates with various mass ratio were prepared and tabulated in Table 3.4. Substrate of 100% RS was used as a control sample. The effect of charcoal application substrate preparation mixture was presented in Table 3.5. Moreover, the spent mushroom substrate (SMS) was also recycled and the substrate composition was presented in Table 3.6.

Ma	terial		Dry Material	1		Supple	ment	
comb	oination							
EFB + F	RS	25% EFF	B + 75% RS, 50% E	FB +				
		50% RS,	75% EFB + 25% RS,	100%				
		EFB						
PPF + R	.S	25% PPF	+ 75% RS, 50% PPF +	- 50%				
		RS, 75%	PPF + 25% RS, 100% I	PPF	Whe	at bran	Limest	tone
SGB + H	RS	25% SGI	B + 75% RS, 50% S	GB +	(5%	from	(CaCo	O ₃)
		50% RS,	75% SGB + 25% RS,	100%	dry	weight	(1.5%	
		SGB			used)		from	dry
CC + RS	5	25% CC	+ 75% RS 50% CC+	50%			weight	
		RS, 75%	CC + 25% RS, 100% C	C			used)	

Table 3.4: Composition of different mass ratio of the substrate

Table 3.5: Charcoal addition in substrate mixture composition

Dry Material	E	Supplement	
100% RS			
100% EFB			
100% PPF			
100% SGB	Wheat bran	Limestone	Charcoal
100% CC	(5% from dry	(CaCO ₃)	(2 % from dry
50 % EFB + 50% RS	weight used)	(1.5% from dry	weight used)
50% PPF + 50% RS		weight used)	
50% SGB + 50% RS			
50% CC + 50% RS			

Dry Material	Supplement					
100% SMS						
75% RS + 25 % SMS)				
50% RS + 50% SMS						
25% RS + 75% SMS	Wheat bran	Limestone (CaCO ₃)				
50% EFB + 50% SMS	(5% from dry weight used)	(1.5% from dry weight				
50% PPF + 50% SMS		used)				
50% SGB + 50% SMS						
50% CC + 50% SMS						

Table 3.6: Spent mushroom substrate (SMS) for mushroom production

3.7.2 Bags Sterilization

In this study, the substrates were placed in the sterilization chamber and sterilized at 100° C for eight hours. Then, all the substrates bags was left to cool at room temperature prior to inoculation process.

3.7.3 Inoculation/Spawning

In this study, inoculation process was organized in the clean room under aseptic condition to prevent contamination during inoculum growth.

The PVC cap of each substrate bag was opened and about 10g oyster mushroom spawn was filled in the mushroom beds. Then, the baglog was closed with the cap.

3.7.4 Incubation

The baglogs were subsequently placed vertically in designated incubation area at 23°C to 25°C, relative humidity approximately at 85% and allowing only 10% sunrays. Adequate ventilation was required to prevent the increase of carbon dioxide (CO₂) (Das & Mukherjee 2007).

3.7.5 Scraping and Watering

Mycelia colonization was completed in the incubation period of maximum 46 days, the baglog were placed horizontally on a growing chamber. The PVC cover was unfolded to induce the fruiting process. The excessive spawn was scraped out in an attempt to allow growth of fruiting bodies. All bags were then transferred to the mushroom house. Racks in the mushroom house was cleaned and wiped with 70% alcohol to reduce contamination before placing the fruiting bags. Water was sprayed using a sprinkler in the form of a fine mist to maintain the moisture, stabilizing the temperature and to trigger the growth of mushroom fruiting bodies for 10 minutes in the morning and evening every day. The duration of primordia (pin-head) and mushroom formation were observed. Yield of mushroom produced in first, second and third flush were determined.

3.7.6 Harvesting Process

The baglog must be handled carefully to ensure the quality of mushroom growth. At the initial stage, a tiny pinhead was formed on the surface of the substrates after 3 days of scrapping and watering process. In two to three days, these pinheads were grown into the full size of mushrooms fruiting bodies and meant to be harvested. The fruiting bodies were harvesting manually by twisting to clock wise or anti-clock wise direction by hand without lifting stubs on the substrates at one time for uniform harvesting to the next flush. The bags that already cropped were closed for another 7-10 days until the next harvest. In total, three harvests were done in this study. The duration of mycelium growth, pin head and fruiting bodies formations were obtained. The total weight of fruiting bodies from three flushes were recorded.

The number of mushroom flushes was considered ended once mushroom bed expired or contamination occurred. Contamination in this study referred to when mushroom bed being impure or changes in color. Furthermore, the mushroom bed was considered expired after 90 days or no mushroom formation was observed.

3.8 Experimental Analysis

3.8.1 Substrates Analysis

Percentage of water content was the most significant parameter in the mixing process of the substrate. Moisture content in all materials used in the mushroom substrate was determined using moisture analyzer.

The pH of the substrate was determined using a pH meter.

3.8.2 Fruiting Body Analysis

3.8.2.1 Mycelia Growth and Pin Head Determination

After spawning, a line was drawn across the bags using a permanent marker at where the spawns have settled to serve as a reference point for the measurement of the rate of mycelia formation. A measuring tape was used to measure the distance travelled by the mycelia in the transparent bags at three day intervals. The rate of mycelia formation was then calculated by subtracting the new measurements from the previous measurements at each three day intervals.

The colonization of the substrate by the mycelia within the bags was monitored by measurement at three days intervals. The duration of mycelia fully colonized the substrate after the day of spawning where white mycelia formed throughout the substrates in the bag was also determined After the bags are slit open, the formation of primordia was observed every two days intervals. The duration of the first primordia formation was observed and recorded.

3.8.2.2 Fresh Mushroom Yield and Morphology

The mushroom yield was determined where the fruit bodies were weighed immediately after harvest using digital analytical weight balance for every flush.

UMP

Mushrooms growing on various substrate was harvested at maturity. The length from the base of the stipe to the pileus mushroom was measured using digital caliper. The diameter of the mushroom cap was also determined using digital caliper.

3.8.2.3 Biological Efficiency (B.E)

Biological efficiency was a formula to determine the ability of mushroom strain to convert substrate materials into fresh mushroom. At the end of the third flush, biological efficiency of fruiting substrate was calculated as equation 3.2 (Chang et al. ,1993).

Biological efficiency (%)

 $= \frac{Total fresh weight of mushroom produced}{Dry weight of substrates} x 100\% (3.2)$

3.8.2.4 Fruiting Bodies Composition Analysis

Sample of fresh cultivated *P. ostretaus* from the first harvest that grown on various composition of the substrate is subjected to proximate analysis. The test was conducted according to the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 1995). These include the determination of protein, total fat, moisture content, ash, crude fiber, total carbohydrate, energy and crude fiber. This analysis was done at UNIPEQ, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia.

The mineral content and heavy metal trace were analyzed in fruit bodies of cultivated *P. ostreatus* from the first flush by using Inductively Coupled Plasma source with a mass spectrometer (ICPMS) at Central Laboratory, Universiti Malaysia Pahang.



CHAPTER 4



4.1.1 CHNS Analysis

P. ostreatus requires carbon, nitrogen and inorganic compounds as its nutritional sources with the main nutrients being carbon sources such as cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. The elemental analysis and the carbon to nitrogen ratio (C/N) of RS, EFB, PPF and SGB are presented in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1. Element Analysis of RS, EFD, FFF and SOD							
Element	RS	EFB	PPF	SGB			
С	38.7	42.62	38.57	44.5			
Н	4.97	4.66	4.78	4.21			
Ν	0.39	1.29	1.69	0.39			
S	0.33	0.69	0.5	0.84			
C/N ratio	7.79	9.15	8.07	10.57			

Table 4.1: Element Analysis of RS, EFB, PPF and SGB

Table 4.1 showed that the SGB had the highest C/N ratio compared to PPF and EFB. Meanwhile, the lowest C/N ratio was observed for RS (7.79). The *P. ostreatus* needs the optimum C/N ratio to grow well on substrates. The SGB contains more

carbon than EFB, RS and PPF. (Naraian et al., 2008) relate that the development of mycelium growth and pinhead formation is dependent on C/N ratio.(Philippoussis et al., 2011) reported that oyster mushrooms required more carbon and less nitrogen, however most of the substrates must be supplemented with nitrogen and carbon source to reach the optimal C/N ratio for the mushrooms to grow. Therefore, the types and the formulation of the substrates for *P. osteratus* cultivation should contain a balance content of carbon and nitrogen in order to achieve optimum C/N ratio. Table 2 tabulates the pH and moisture of block for various substrates compositions.

4.2 Effect on Different Substrates Compositions

Figure 4.1 represents the average days for completion of spawn running, first pinhead formation and first fruiting body formation for different substrates formulation. Beside substrate of 100% RS, 50% EFB + 50% RS, 50% PPF + 50% RS and 25% EFB + 25% PPF + 50% RS, other substrates managed a complete mycelium growth in less than 30 days. From the previous study, the mycelium growth rate increased gradually with the amount of RS (Ali et al., 2013). However, in this study, the substrates that contained SGB amount either 25% or 50% showed the fastest mycelium growth, attributable to the blending of RS and PPF to SGB which helped at optimizing the C/N ratio and the carbon sources in the substrates. Moreover, the SGB has higher sugar contain that can influence the rapid growth of mycelium as compared to others that are not incorporating with SGB. The substrate composition of 50% PPF + 50%RS displayed the lowest mycelium growth, followed closely by the 50% EFB + 50% RS, 100% RS and 25% EFB + 25% PPF + 50% RS substrates which was in contrast with (Hoa et al., 2015) that stated the combination of 50% RS and 50% SGB was slightly lower of mycelium growth than 100% RS. This is due to the difference in total C, total N of substrate formulas hence the difference in C/N ratio. C/N ratio had more effects on the mycelium growth, the formation and development of fruiting body (Hoa et al., 2015). Moreover, as the amount of RS decreases in the substrates formulation, slower mycelium growth was observed due to the larger particles size of the EFB and PPF in the substrates. The particle size of EFB and PPF should be sufficient enough in order to mix well with RS. However, if the particles sizes are too small, the wet substrate can become over compact and hence, reducing the porosity and aeration available (Ali et al., 2013).



Figure 4.1: Average days for completion of spawn running, first pinhead formation and first fruiting body formation

Figure 4.1 also shows the time for first pinhead formation and time for first fruiting bodies formation and crop. Different pinhead and fruiting times were recorded, depending on the composition of the substrates. The substrates that contained SGB show the fastest pinhead and fruiting bodies formation i.e. only within 28-32 days. On the other hand, decreasing the amount of RS in the substrates reduced the pinhead and fruiting bodies formation rate, for example the substrates of 50% EFB+50% RS and 50% PPF+50% RS. The nitrogen rich source substrate speeded up the mycelium growth and pinhead formation (Jawad Ashraf et al., 2013). The fruiting body formation from almost all these substrates took between 2-4 days after pinhead formation (Figure 4.1). Fast growth of the mushroom also was influenced by addition of supplement (wheat bran mixed) (Das et al., 2007)

The yields of fruiting bodies were recorded from three replicates and calculated as an average as shown in Table 4.2. Theoretically, the yield was gradually decreased over the flush. The highest mushroom yields were mainly from the first flush, except those from the 100% RS substrates which recorded the highest yields from the second flush. The highest total yield and biological efficiency, BE (%) was from the 25% PPF+25%SGB+50% RS substrate, while the lowest total yield and BE (%) was obtained from 50% PPF+50%RS. However, in this study, the 50% EFB+50% RS and 25% EFB+25% PPF+50% RS had resulted in the third flush being higher than second flush might be due to the environmental factor such as temperature and relative humidity that not easy to be maintained and can be affected the second flush yield. All the substrates that contained SGB resulted the higher total yield and BE (%) compared with other substrates due to higher sugar contain in SGB itself. In general, the BE(%) in the present study was far lower in comparison with other studies. (Bhattacharjya DK, 2014) observed that BE (%) of *P. ostreatus* grown on different RS substrates ranged from 187% to 213.2%. However, the results of this study were similar to (Zeng-Chin Liang, 2011) who found that BE(%) of *P.pulmonarius* between 39.55 to 58.33% that was grown on the stalks of three grass plants in Taiwan.

Substrates	Averag	Average yield (g/kg substrate)				Biological
					(g/kg	efficiency
	1 st	2^{nd}	3 rd flu	4 rd fl	substrate)	(%)
	flush	flush	sh	ush		
100% RS	55.67	62.53	48.14	36.43	202.77	67.59
25% EFB+75% RS	107.58	55.8	46.62	40.82	250.82	62.71
50% EFB+50%RS	88.17	39.12	45.72	41.67	214.68	53.67
25% PPF+75% RS	75.23	58.16	53.38	52.11	238.88	59.72
50% PPF+50% RS	80.67	66.38	30.00	16.95	194.00	48.50
25% SGB +75% RS	92.86	64.90	48.86	43.57	250.19	62.55
50% SGB+50% RS	100.29	61.10	46.57	42.86	250.82	62.71
25% EFB+25% PPF+50% RS	111.05	30.83	57.05	42.67	241.60	60.40
25% PPF+25% SGB+50% RS	123.60	72.83	64.62	57.83	318.88	79.72

Table 4.2: Yield for every flushes and biological efficiency of different substrates

4.3 Substrate Analysis

These are two known contributing factors on the growth of *P. ostreatus* (Bellettini et al., 2019). The highest pH substrate (pH 9) was obtained from substrate of 25% EFB + 25% PPF + 50% RS, followed by 25% SGB + 75% RS, 25% EFB + 75% RS, 25% PPF + 25% SGB + 50% RS and the lowest pH was obtained by the composition of 50% SGB + 50%RS which was around pH 7.5. These result concurs with (Nwokoye et al., 2010) where the substrates should in the pH range of 3 - 10 for mushroom to grow in the tropics and thus the ability of the mycelia to tolerate the temperature of 28°C. Besides, oyster mushroom can grow at moderate temperatures, ranging from 18-30°C (Jaramillo Mejía et al., 2013). On the other hand, water is also one of the main factors that influence the success mushroom to grow well. The highest moisture content was obtained from the substrate compositions of 50% SGB + 50% RS which was around 78% and the lowest is from the 25% SGB + 75% RS substrates which was close to 69% as shown in Table 4.3. According to (Wetzel et al., 2004), the high moisture content in the substrate would result in difficult breathing for the mycelium, inhibiting perspiration, rendering the development of fruiting body impossible and resulting the development of non-desired organism such as bacteria and nematodes. However, the low moisture content may also result in death of the fruiting body (Bellettini et al., 2019). It is reported that the suitable moisture content should be in the range between 50% and 75% for substrate (S. T. Chang et al., 2004)

Substrates	pH	Moisture content (%)
25% EFB + 75% RS	8.5	76.47
25% SGB + 75% RS	8.75	68.74
50% SGB + 50%RS	7.5	78.35
25% EFB + 25% PPF + 50% RS	9.3	74.89
25% PPF + 25% SGB + 50% RS	8.2	70.92

Table 4.3: Chemical properties of substrates compositions

4.4 Fruiting Body Analysis

The nutritional analysis of the first fruiting bodies of 100 % RS and 50% RS that combine either EFB, PPF and SGB substrates was shown in Table 4.4. There was non-detectable fat content of the mushroom from all the substrate 50%, except the substrates from 50% PPF + 50% RS that only had the small amount of the fat content (0.09). The first flush fruiting bodies from the 50% PPF +50% RS had higher protein content compared to other substrates. (Ali et al., 2018) reported that the substrate that has higher C/N ratio contributes to the higher protein content (Ragunathan et al., 2003) found the protein content of mushroom depended on the C/N ratio and the chemical composition of the substrates. The result in the present study in contrast with the finding from (Bellettini et al., 2019) that stated increasing protein content in the mushroom resulted in low fat content.

 Table 4.4:
 Nutritional contents (%) and Energy (kcal/100g) of P. ostreatus for

 first flush

Substrates	Nutritional contents of <i>P. ostreatus</i> (%)						
	(kcal/100g)						
		Protein	Total	Total	Crude	Moisture	Ash
		(%)	Fat	Carbohydrate	Fiber	(%)	(%)
			(%)	(%)	(%)		
100% RS	42.5	2.90	0	7.67	6.19	88.78	0.66
50% EFB+50%RS	50.5	2.77	0	9.81	6.07	86.42	1.00
50% PPF+50% RS	48.5	3.82	0.09	8.19	6.06	87.09	0.82
50% SGB+50%RS	30	2.06	0	5.43	6.15	91.78	0.73
25% EFB+25% PPF+50% RS	5 35	3.14	0	5.63	4.90	90.27	0.97
25% PPF+25% SGB+50% R	S 35.5	2.32	0	6.58	6.59	90.33	0.79

The mushroom that grows from 50% EFB + 50% RS had the highest total carbohydrates (9.81%), followed by 50% PPF + 50% RS, 100% RS, 25% PPF + 25% SGB + 50%, 25% EFB + 25% PPF + 50% RS. Meanwhile, the lowest content of total carbohydrates was in mushroom that grow from the substrates of 50% SGB + 50% RS. (W. Li et al., 2015) found that the low C/N ratio resulted in high carbohydrate content. The mushroom from 25% EFB + 25% PPF + 50% RS substrates has the lowest crude

fiber content and the others substrates were not statistically different in term of crude fiber content. It can be seen in Table 4.4 that the moisture content of mushrooms from all substrates almost similar to each other's which is in the range of 92 - 87%. The higher moisture content in the mushroom from the 50% SGB + 50% RS substrate is probably due to the greater water-holding capacity of the combination of SGB and RS itself. The highest ash composition obtained from the 50% EFB + 50% RS substrate and the lowest 100% RS which is 1 and 0.66 respectively.

Substrates are not only affect on the protein, carbohydrate, and fat content in mushroom, but also influenced on total energy of *P. ostreatus* as shown in Table 4.4. Total energy contribution of the samples ranged between 30-50.5 kcal/100 g dry weight for *P. ostreatuss*. Thus, it can be deduced that *P. ostreatus* was low in calorie food because they provided almost zero content of fat. This healthy food is one of appropriate food to be consumed for those who are watching on diet.



CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1 Conclusion

It is found that the growth and yield performance of P. otreatus are dependent on C/N ratio of the substrate. The substrates that contain SGB in the ratio of 0.25 w/w and 0.5 w/w gave better the mycelium rate, fastest pinhead and fruiting bodies formations as well as the yields and BE (%) due to high sugar contain in sugarcane bagasse and resulting the optimum C/N ratio for mushroom to growth well. The substrate of 25% PPF + 25% SGB + 50% RS resulting in the best formulation in term of growth performance, yield and BE (%) are at 35 days for first harvest, 318.88 g/kg substrate and 79.72% respectively, as compared to other formulations of the substrates. However, the other combinations of the substrates also have a tremendous potential to be as an alternative substrate for mushroom cultivation in Malaysia. The particle size, C/N ratio, pH, moisture content can significantly affect the growth of *P. ostreatus* and mineral content on the substrates. The advantages of using the biomass generated from the palm oil mills which is available throughout the year at little and no cost, and sugarcane bagasse that abundance in the rural and urban areas in Malaysia will not only solve the environmental pollution problem, but it can also offer an economically promising way to convert low quality biomasses into a valuable high protein food for human and also can help further income generation to the mushroom growers.

5.2 Recommendation

There are several suggestions that recommended to be implemented in recovering the agricultural wastes for future studies:

- a) Recovering other agricultural wastes such as kenaf, cocoa, pineapple, fruits and vegetable wastes.
- b) A further recommendation to enhance this study is to increase the temperature during a substrate sterilization up to 121°C by using an autoclave.
- c) This study could be expanded to another phase of sustainable development which is using polypropylene plastic bottle instead of polyethylene plastic bag in mushroom cultivation. Thus, minimize the wastage in the production of mushroom.
- d) The SMS produced in this study should be applied practical ruminant feeding in Malaysia.





6.1 Name of articles/ manuscripts/ books published

- [1] Fathie binti Ahmad Zakil, Mohd Shafiq bin Mohd Sueb and Ruzinah Isha. Growth and Yield Performance of *Pleurotus ostreatus* on Various Agro-Industrial Wastes in Malaysia. Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Biosciences and Medical Engineering (ICBME2019) AIP Conf. Proc. 2155, 020055-1–020055-7; https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5125559 Published by AIP Publishing.
- [2] F Ahmad Zakil, K H Muhammad Hassan, M S Mohd Sueb and R Isha. Growth and Yield of *Pleurotus ostreatus* using Sugarcane Bagasse as an Alternative Substrate in Malaysia. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, 736 (2020) 022021, doi:10.1088/1757-899X/736/2/022021.

6.2 Title of paper presentations (international/ local)

- Growth and Yield Performance of *Pleurotus ostreatus* on Various Agro-Industrial Wastes in Malaysia. 2nd International Conference on Biosciences and Medical Engineering (ICBME2019).
- [2] Growth and Yield of *Pleurotus ostreatus* using Sugarcane Bagasse as an Alternative Substrate in Malaysia. Engineering Security and Chemical Engineering Congress (ESChE) 2019.

6.3 Human Capital Development

- [1] Nor Sasila binti Jasmi- On going Master
- [2] Fathie binti Ahmad Zakil-On Going PhD

6.4 Awards/ Others

[1] Silver Medal in CITREX 2019. Waste to wealth: Low Cost Fruiting Body Substrate for Pleurotus sotreatus Cultivation using Various Agro-Industrial Wastes in Malaysia. Organized by Universiti Malaysia Pahang.

REFERENCES

- Abas, R., Kamarudin, M. F., Nordin, A. B. A., & Simeh, M. A. (2011). A Study on the Malaysian Oil Palm Biomass Sector - Supply and Perception of Palm Oil Millers. *Oil Palm Industry Economic Journal*, 11(1), 28-41.
- Abd Razak, D. L., Abdullah, N., Khir Johari, N. M., & Sabaratnam, V. (2013). Comparative Study of Mycelia Growth and Sporophore Yield of Auricularia Polytricha (Mont.) Sacc on Selected Palm Oil Wastes as Fruiting Substrate. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 97(7), 3207-3213.
- Abdulkadir, T. S., Oyejobi, D. O., & Lawal, A. A. (2014). Evaluation of Sugarcane Bagasse Ash as a Replacement for Cement in Concrete Works. *Acta Tehnica Corviniensis – Bulletin of Engineering* 71-76.
- Ahmad Naim, A. Y., Hossain, M., & Edyvean, R. (2017). Thermal Degradation and Morphological Changes of Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch Vermicompost. *Bioresources*, 12, 8886-8900.
- Aida, F. M. N. A., Shuhaimi, M., Yazid, M., & Maaruf, A. G. (2009). Mushroom as a Potential Source of Prebiotics: A Review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 20(11), 567-575.
- Alam, A. S. A. F., Er, A. C., & Begum, H. (2015). Malaysian Oil Palm Industry: Prospect and Problem. *Journal of Food, Agriculture and Environment, 13(2),* 143-148.
- Alam, N., Amin, R., Khan, M. A., Ara, I., Shim, M., Lee, M., & Lee, T.-S. (2008). Nutritional Analysis of Cultivated Mushrooms in Bangladesh - Pleurotus ostreatus, Pleurotus sajor-caju, Pleurotus florida and Calocybe indica. *Mycobiology*, 36, 228-232.
- Alananbeh, K., Bouqellah, N., & Al-Kaff, N. (2014). Cultivation of oyster mushroom Pleurotus ostreatus on date-palm leaves mixed with other agro-wastes in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 21*.
- Alfredo B. Villaceran Jr., Sofronio P. Kalaw, Pedrito S. Nitural, and, E. A. A., & Reyes, R. G. (2006). Cultivation of Thai and Japanese strains of Pleurotus sajor – caju on rice straw - based Volvariella volvacea mushroom spent and composted rice straw in Central Luzon Region, Philippines *Journal of Agricultural Technology* 2(1), 69-75.
- Ali, N., Khairudin, H., Mohamed, M., & Hassan, O. (2018). Cultivation of Pleurotus Ostreatus on Oil Palm Fronds Mixed with Rubber Tree Sawdust. *Chemical Engineering Transactions.*, 63, 547-552.
- Ali, N., Mohd Tabi, A. N., Ahmad Zakil, F., Mohd Fauzai, W. N. F., & Onn, H. (2013). Yield Performance and Biological Efficiency of Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) and Palm Pressed Fibre (PPF) as Substrates for the Cultivation of Pleurotus Ostreatus. *Jurnal Teknologi*, 64, 93-99.
- Anukam, A., Mamphweli, S., Meyer, E. L., & Okoh, O. (2014). Computer Simulation of the Mass and Energy Balance during Gasification of Sugarcane Bagasse. *Journal of Energy*, 2014, 1-9.
- Aziera, N., Rasib, A., Zakaria, Z., Tompang, M. F., Abdul Rahman, R., & Othman, H. (2015). Characterization of Biochemical Composition for Different Types of Spent Mushroom Substrate in Malaysia. *Malaysian Journal of Analytical Sciences*, 19, 41-45.

- Bellettini, M. B., Fiorda, F. A., Maieves, H. A., Teixeira, G. L., Ávila, S., Hornung, P. S., . . . Ribani, R. H. (2019). Factors affecting mushroom Pleurotus spp. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 26(4), 633-646.
- Bhattacharjya DK, P. R., Miah MN and Ahmed KU. (2014). Effect of different saw dust substrates on the growth and yield of oyster mushroom (Pleurotus ostreatus). *J* Agric Vet Sci., 7, 38-46.
- Carabajal, M., Levin, L., Albertó, E., & Lechner, B. (2012). Effect of co-cultivation of two Pleurotus species on lignocellulolytic enzyme production and mushroom fructification. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 66(1), 71-76.
- Chae, H.-J., & Ahn, J.-H. (2013). Optimization of rice bran and food waste compost contents in mushroom culture medium to maximize mycelial growth rate and fruit body yield of Pleurotus ostreatus. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 80, 66–70.
- Chang, S. H. (2014). An Overview of Empty Fruit Bunch from Oil Palm as Feedstock for Bio-oil Production. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 174-181.
- Chang, S. T. (2006). The World Mushroom Industry: Trends and Technological Development. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 8(4), 297-314
- Chang, S. T., & Miles, P. G. (2004). Mushrooms: Cultivation, Nutritional Value, Medicinal Effect, and Environmental Impact. *CRC Press, Boca Raton*.
- Chukwurah, N., Eze, S., Chike, O., Ugwuoke, K., Nkwonta, C., Akobueze, E., & Aruah, C. (2012). Performance of oyster mushroom (Pleurotus ostreatus) in different local agricultural waste materials. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *11*, 8979-8985.
- Crosby, W. (2016). Oyster Mushroom Cultivation in the Northeast United States. *Retrieved from <u>https://www.northeastsare.org/Educational-</u> <u>Resources/Northeast-guides-and-books/Oyster-Mushroom-Cultivation</u> on 29 <i>August 2019.*
- Das, N., & Mukherjee, M. (2007). Cultivation of Pleurotus ostreatus on Weed Plants. Bioresource Technology, 98(14), 2723-2726.
- de Carvalho, C. S. M., de Aguiar, L. V. B., Sales-Campos, C., de Almeida Minhoni, M. T., & de Andrade, M. C. N. (2012). Applicability of the use of waste from different banana cultivars for the cultivation of the oyster mushroom. Brazilian journal of microbiology : [publication of the Brazilian Society for Microbiology], 43(2), 819-826.
- DOSM. (2016). Department of Statistics Malaysia Press Release, (December). Retrieved from <u>https://www.dosm.gov.my</u> on 29 August 2019.
- Dündar, A., Acay, H., & Yildiz, A. (2008). Yield performances and nutritional contents of three oyster mushroom species cultivated on wheat stalk. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 79550854566126087252275, 3497-3501.
- Dündar, A., Acay, H., & Yildiz, A. (2010). Effect of using different Lignocellulosic Wastes for Cultivation of Pleurotus ostreatus (Jacq.) P. Kumm. on Mushroom Yield, Chemical Composition and Nutritional Value. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 8(4), 662-666.
- Elisashvili, V., Penninckx, M., Kachlishvili, E., Tsiklauri, N., Metreveli, E., Kharziani, T., & Kvesitadze, G. (2008). Lentinus edodes and Pleurotus species lignocellulolytic enzymes activity in submerged and solid-state fermentation of lignocellulosic wastes of different composition. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(3), 457-462.

- Elly Sabiiti. (2011). Utilizing Agricultural Waste to Enhance Food Security and Conserve the Environment. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development, 11*(6), 1-9.
- Factfish. (2015). Malaysia: Maize, Total, Production Quantity (Tons). Retrieved from www.factfish.com on 29 Auguts 2019.
- G. Ramanathan, T. Vinodhkumar, T. Abinaya pallavi, & suresh, J. I. (2013). Evaluation of effect of different substrates on mushroom production and their bioactive potential *International Research Journal of Pharmaceutical and Applied Sciences*, *3*(5), 10-15.
- Gimeno, A., Alami, A. A., Toral, P. G., Frutos, P., Abecia, L., Fondevila, M., & Castrillo, C. (2015). Effect of grinding or pelleting high grain maize- or barleybased concentrates on rumen environment and microbiota of beef cattle. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 203, 67-78.
- Haimid, M. T., Rahim, H., & Abu Dardak, R. (2013). Undertsanding the Mushroom Industry and its Marketing Strategies for Fresh Produce in Malaysia. *Economic* and Technology Management Review, Vol. 8, 27-37.
- Hoa, H. T., Wang, C.-L., & Wang, C.-H. (2015). The Effects of Different Substrates on the Growth, Yield, and Nutritional Composition of Two Oyster Mushrooms (Pleurotus ostreatus and Pleurotus cystidiosus). *Mycobiology*, 43(4), 423-434.
- Intasit, R., Yeesang, J., & Cheirsilp, B. (2019). Biological Pretreatment of Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) Using Oleaginous Aspergillus tubingensis TSIP9 Journal of Water and Environment Technology, 17(4), 244-250.
- Jabatan, P. M. (2013). Program Transfromasi Eknomi "Laporan Tahunan 12". Jabatan Perdana Menteri.
- Jaramillo Mejía, S., & Albertó, E. (2013). Heat Treatment of Wheat Straw by Immersion in Hot Water Decreases Mushroom Yield in Pleurotus ostreatus. *Revista Iberoamericana de Micología*, 30(2), 125-129.
- Jawad Ashraf, Muhammad Asif Ali, Waqas Ahmad, Chaudhry Muhammad Ayyub, & Shafi, J. (2013). Effect of Different Substrate Supplements on Oyster Mushroom (Pleurotus spp.) Production. *Food Science and Technology*, 1(3), 44-51.
- Jonathan, G., Ajayi, A., Oku, I., & Wankasi, D. (2006). Nutritive Value of Common Wild Edible Mushrooms from Southern Nigeria. *Global J Biotechnol Biochem*, *1*.
- Kang, S. W. (2004). What is Oyster Mushroom? In: Oyster Mushroom Cultivation, Mushroom
- Kushairi, A. (2017). Malaysian Oil Palm Industry Performance 2016 and Prospects for 2017. Paper presented at the Palm Oil Economic Review and Outlook Seminar. Pullman Kuala Lumpur City Centre, Kuala Lumpur.
- Lalithadevy V, & JN, M. (2014). Yield performance of fruits and vegetables peel as substrates for cultivation of oyster mushroom (Pleurotus florida). *1*(1), 220-226.
- Latif Ahmad, A., Ismail, S., & Bhatia, S. (2003). Water recycling from palm oil mill effluent (POME) using membrane technology. *Desalination*, 157(1), 87-95.
- Li, M., & Hu, J. (2014). Study on Survival Strategies of Farmers Engage in Small-Scale Household Cultivation of Edible Mushrooms: Take Shandong Province as an Example. *Modern Economy*, 05, 1092-1100.
- Li, W., Li, X., Yang, Y., Zhou, F., Liu, Y., Zhou, S., & Yu, H. (2015). Effects of different carbon sources and C/N values on nonvolatile taste components of Pleurotus eryngii. *International journal of food science & technology*, 50(11), 2360-2366-2015

- Li, X., Pang, Y., & Zhang, R. (2001). Compositional changes of cottonseed hull substrate during P. ostreatus growth and the effects on the feeding value of the spent substrate. *Bioresource Technology*, 80(2), 157-161.
- Lin, Y., Ge, X., & Li, Y. (2014). Solid-state anaerobic co-digestion of spent mushroom substrate with yard trimmings and wheat straw for biogas production. *Bioresource Technology*, 169, 468-474.
- Loss, E., Royer, A. R., Barreto-Rodrigues, M., & Barana, A. C. (2009). Use of maize wastewater for the cultivation of the Pleurotus spp. mushroom and optimization of its biological efficiency. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 166(2), 1522-1525.
- Malaysia, N. I. A. o. (2013). National Biomass Strategy 2020: New Wealth Creation for Malaysia's Palm Oil Industry, Version 2, Retrieved from <u>https://www.cmtevents.com/MediaLibrary/BStgy2013RptAIM.pdf</u> 29 August 2019.
- Manaila, E., Stelescu, M. D., Craciun, G., & Ighigeanu, D. (2016). Wood Sawdust/Natural Rubber Ecocomposites Cross-Linked by Electron Beam Irradiation. *Materials (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9(7), 503.
- Marlina, L., Sukotjo, S., & Marsudi, S. (2015). Potential of Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) as Media for Oyster Mushroom, Pleurotus ostreatus Cultivation. *Procedia Chemistry*, 16, 427-431.
- Mehryar, E., Ding, W., Hemmat, A., Talha, Z., Hassan, M., Mamat, T., & Hei, K. (2017). Anaerobic Co-Digestion of Oil Refinery Wastewater with Bagasse; Evaluating and Modeling by Neural Network Algorithms and Mathematical Equations. *Bioresources*, 12, 7325-7340.
- Mohd Hanafi, F. H., Shahabaldin, R., Shazwin, M. T., Mohd Fadhil, M. D., Masahito,
 Y., Mariko, S., . . . Shirin, S. E. (2018). Environmentally Sustainable
 Applications of Agro-Based Spent Mushroom Substrate (SMS): An Overview.
 Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management, 20, 1383–1396.
- Mohd Tabi, A. N., Ahmad Zakil, F., Mohd Fauzai, W. N. F., Ali, N., & Hassan, O. (2008). The Usage of Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) and Palm Pressed Fibre (PPF) as Substrates for the Cultivation of Pleurotus ostreatus. *Jurnal Teknologi*, 49, 189-196.
- Mohd Zaffrie, M. A., Azahar, H., & Mohd Amirul Mukmin, A. W. (2014). Status and Potential of Mushroom Industry in Malaysia. *Economic and Technology Management Review, Vol. 9b*, 103-111.
- Moonmoon, M., Uddin, M. N., Ahmed, S., Shelly, N. J., & Khan, M. A. (2010). Cultivation of different strains of king oyster mushroom (Pleurotus eryngii) on saw dust and rice straw in Bangladesh. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 17(4), 341-345.
- Mosisa, Z. H., Kebede, A., & Preetha, V. V. (2015). Cultivation of Selected Pleurotus Species using Sugarcane Bagasse, Waste Paper and Leaves of Prosopis Juliflora (Sw.) Dc. Int. J. of Adv. Res., 3 (2), 2320-5407.
- Naraian, R., Sahu, R. K., Kumar, S., Garg, S. K., Singh, C. S., & Kanaujia, R. S. (2008). Influence of Different Nitrogen Rich Supplements During Cultivation of Pleurotus Florida on Corn Cob Substrate. *The Environmentalist*, 29(1), 1.
- Ng, W. P. Q., Lam, H. L., Ng, F. Y., Kamal, M., & Lim, J. H. E. (2012). Waste-to-Wealth: Green Potential from Palm Biomass in Malaysia. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 34*, 57-65.
- Nwokoye, A. I., Kuforiji, O. O., & Oni, P. I. (2010). Studies on Mycelial Growth Requirements of Pleurotus Ostreatus (Fr.) Singer International Journal of Basic & Applied Sciences 10(2), 47-53.

- Oei, P., Hui, Z., Jianhua, L., Jianqing, D., Meiyuan, C., and , & Yi, C. (2007). The alternative uses of spent mushroom compost. *ECO Consult Foundation, Tiel, Netherlands.*, 1-22.
- Ogunjobi, J., & Lajide, L. (2013). Characterisation of Bio-Oil and Bio-Char from Slow-Pyrolysed Nigerian Yellow and White Corn Cobs. *Journal of Sustainable Energy & Environment*, 4, 77-84.
- Ouzouni, P. K., Petridis, D., Koller, W.-D., & Riganakos, K. A. (2009). Nutritional value and metal content of wild edible mushrooms collected from West Macedonia and Epirus, Greece. *Food Chemistry*, 115(4), 1575-1580.
- Pant, D., Reddy, U., & Adholeya, A. (2006). Cultivation of oyster mushrooms on wheat straw and bagasse substrate amendedwith distillery effluent. World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology - WORLD J MICROBIOL BIOTECHNOL, 22, 267-275.
- Park, J. H., Kim, S. W., Do, Y. J., Kim, H., Ko, Y. G., Yang, B. S., . . . Cho, Y. M. (2012). Spent Mushroom Substrate Influences Elk (Cervus Elaphus Canadensis) Hematological and Serum Biochemical Parameters. *Asian-Australasian journal* of animal sciences, 25(3), 320-324.
- Pathmashini, L., Arulnandhy, V., & Wijeratnam, S. (2009). Cultivation of Oyster Mushroom (Pleurotus ostreatus) on Sawdust. *Ceylon Journal of Science (biological Sciences), 37.*
- PEMANDU. (2011). Economic Transformation Programme (ETP) A Roadmap for Malaysia. Retrieved from <u>https://policy.asiapacificenergy.org/sites/default/files/ETP.pdf</u> on 29 August 2019.
- Phan, C.-W., & Sabaratnam, V. (2012). Potential uses of Spent Mushroom Substrate and its Associated Lignocellulosic Enzymes. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 96(4), 863-873.
- Philippoussis, A., & Diamantopoulou, P. (2011). Agro-food Industry Wastes and Agricultural Residues Conversion into High Value Products by Mushroom Cultivation. In: Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Mushroom Biology and Mushroom Products (ICMBMP7), Arcachon, France, 4–7 October, 344-356.
- Ponthein, W., & Cheirsilp, B. (2011). Development of Acetone Butanol Ethanol (ABE) Production from Palm Pressed Fiber by Mixed Culture of Clostridium sp. and Bacillus sp. *Energy Procedia*, 9, 459-467.
- Poudel, M. (2014). Mushroom Farming: Source to Attract Youth and Upheaval the Economic Condition of Smallholder Farmers. *Retrieved* from <u>https://ypard.net/2014-march-18/mushroom-farming-source-attract-youth-and-upheaval-economic-condition-smallholder-farm</u> on 29 August 2019.
- Ragunathan, R., & Swaminathan, K. (2003). Nutritional Status of Pleurotus spp. Grown on Various Agro-Wastes. *Food Chemistry*, 80(3), 371-375.
- Randive, S. D. (2012). Cultivation and study of growth of oyster mushroom on different agricultural waste substrate and its nutrient analysis *Advances in Applied Science Research*, *3*(4), 1938-1949.
- Rao, G., Bovas, J. J., Kebreab Hagos, M., Habtemicheal, A., Gebremariam, T., & Madhavarao, S. (2018). *Mushroom Cultivation: A Bioconversion Technology for Sustainable Agriculture in Hamelmalo Agricultural College, Eritrea*
- Raut, J. K. (2019). Current Status, Challenges and Prospects of Mushroom Industry in Nepal. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, *4*, 154-160.

- Reis, F. S., Barros, L., Martins, A., & Ferreira, I. C. F. R. (2012). Chemical composition and nutritional value of the most widely appreciated cultivated mushrooms: An inter-species comparative study. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 50(2), 191-197.
- Rezaei, J., Rouzbhan, Y., Zahedifar, M., & Fazaeli, H. (2015). Effects of dietary substitution of maize silage by amaranth silage on feed intake, digestibility, microbial nitrogen, blood parameters, milk production and nitrogen retention in lactating Holstein cows. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 202.
- Riansa-ngawong, W., & Prasertsan, P. (2011). Optimization of Furfural Production from Hemicellulose Extracted from Delignified Palm Pressed Fiber using a Two-stage Process. *Carbohydrate Research*, 346(1), 103-110.
- Rocha, G., Martín Medina, C., Soares, I., Souto-Maior, A., Baudel, H., & Abreu, C. (2011). Dilute mixed-acid pretreatment of sugarcane bagasse for ethanol production. *Biomass & Bioenergy - BIOMASS BIOENERG*, 35, 663-670.
- Royse, D., Baars, J. J. P., & Tan, Q. (2017). Current Overview of Mushroom Production in the World: Technology and Applications. In (pp. 5-13).
- Royse, D. J. (2014). A global perspective on the high five: Agaricus, Pleurotus, Lentinula, Auricularia & amp; Flammulina. Solan.
- Shaaban, A., Se, S.-M., Merpati Mitan, N. M., & Mohd Fairuz, D. (2013). Characterization of Biochar Derived from Rubber Wood Sawdust through Slow Pyrolysis on Surface Porosities and Functional Groups. *Procedia Engineering*, 68, 365-371.
- Shariff, A., Aziz, S., Ismail, N., & Abdullah, N. (2016). Corn Cob as a Potential Feedstock for Slow Pyrolysis of Biomass. *Journal of Physical Science*, 27, 123-137.
- Shariff, A., Aziz, S., Ismiza Ismail, N., & Abdullah, N. (2016). Corn Cob as a Potential Feedstock for Slow Pyrolysis of Biomass. *Journal of Physical Science*, 27, 123-137.
- Shehrawat, P. S., Sindhu, N., & Devi, P. (2015). Agricultural Waste Awareness and Utilization for Healthy Environment and Sustainable Livelihood Scientific Papers Series Management, Economic Engineering in Agriculture and Rural Development, 15(2), 371-376.
- Soh Kheang, L., & Yuen May, C. (2013). Prospect, Challenges and Opportunities on Biofuels in Malaysia. In R. Pogaku & R. H. Sarbatly (Eds.), Advances in Biofuels (pp. 3-14). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Sokhansanj, S., Turhollow, A., Cushman, J., & Cundiff, J. (2002). Engineering aspects of collecting corn stover for bioenergy. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 23, 347-355.
- Stajić, M., Persky, L., Friesem, D., Hadar, Y., Wasser, S. P., Nevo, E., & Vukojević, J. (2006). Effect of different carbon and nitrogen sources on laccase and peroxidases production by selected Pleurotus species. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 38(1), 65-73.
- Sudirman, L., Sutrisna, A., Listiyowati, S., Fadli, L., & Tarigan, B. (2011). The potency of oil palm plantation wasres for mushroom production *Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Mushroom Biology and Mushroom Products* (ICMBMP7, 378-384.)
- Sulaiman, F., & Abdullah, N. (2014). Pyrolytic product of washed and unwashed oil palm wastes by slow thermal conversion process. 25, 73-84.
- Sun, J. X., Sun, X. F., Sun, R. C., & Su, Y. Q. (2004). Fractional Extraction and Structural Characterization of Sugarcane Bagasse Hemicelluloses. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 56(2), 195-204.

- Talha, Z., Ding, W., Mehryar, E., Hassan, M., & Bi, J. (2016). Alkaline Pretreatment of Sugarcane Bagasse and Filter Mud Codigested to Improve Biomethane Production. *BioMed research international*, 2016, 8650597-8650597.
- Tan, S. R., Ting, H., Lajuni, N., Yacob, Y., & Hii, J. W. S. (2018). Evaluating Malaysian Palm Oil Industry using Discounted Cash Flow Approach International Research Journal of Finance and Economics(167), 17-25.
- Theo, W. L., Lim, J. S., Ho, W. S., Hashim, H., Lee, C. T., & Muis, Z. A. (2017). Optimization of Oil Palm Biomass and Palm Oil Mill Effluent (POME) Utilisation Pathway for Palm Oil Mill Cluster with Consideration of BioCNG Distribution Network. *Energy*, 121, 865-883.
- Thomsen, M. H. (2005). Complex Media from Processing of Agricultural Crops for Microbial Fermentation. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 68(5), 598-606.
- Wang, L., & Yang, S.-T. (2007). Chapter 18 Solid State Fermentation and Its Applications. In S.-T. Yang (Ed.), *Bioprocessing for Value-Added Products* from Renewable Resources (pp. 465-489). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Wetzel, M. M. V. d. S., Urben, A. F., Faiad, M. G. R., & Ramos, V. R. (2004). Longevidade de Phomopsis sojae Lehman durante o armazenamento de germoplasma de soja. Embrapa Recursos Genéticos eBiotecnologia, Brasília (in Portuguese).
- Williams, B. C., McMullan, J. T., & McCahey, S. (2001). An initial assessment of spent mushroom compost as a potential energy feedstock. *Bioresource Technology*, 79(3), 227-230.
- Wisitrassameewong, K., Karunarathna, S. C., Thongklang, N., Zhao, R., Callac, P., Moukha, S., . . . Hyde, K. D. (2012). Agaricus subrufescens: A review. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 19(2), 131-146.
- Wood, D. A. (1989). Mushroom biotechnology. *International Industrial Biotechnology*, 9, 5-8.
- Yang, D., Liang, J., Wang, Y., Sun, F., Tao, H., Xu, Q., ... Wan, X. (2015). Tea Waste: an Effective and Economic Substrate for Oyster Mushroom Cultivation. *Journal* of the science of food and agriculture, 96.
- Zeng-Chin Liang, K.-J. W., Jinn-Chyi Wang, Chorng-Horng Lin and Chiu-Yeh Wu. (2011). Cultivation of the Culinary-Medicinal Lung Oyster Mushroom, Pleurotus pulmonarius (Fr.) Quél. (Agaricomycetideae) on Grass Plants in Taiwan. International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms, 13(2), 193-199.
- Zhang, R., Li, X., & Fadel, J. G. (2002). Oyster Mushroom Cultivation with Rice and Wheat Straw. *Bioresource Technology*, 82(3), 277-284.



APPENDIX A - Photos of oyster mushroom growth

Mixed substrates with different ratio and packed them in the transparent plastic bag (each baglog is 15cm)



Sterilization at 100°C for 8 hours



Oyster mushroom spawns



Mushroom spawns are injected into the baglogs



Incubation



Pin head formed



Mushroom growth


Young oyster mushrooms growth



Mature oyster mushrooms formed and ready to harvest



Data collection



Oyster mushroom that growth on 100% RS

BUDGET

NO	VOTE	AMOUNT APPROVED (RM)	TOTAL EXPENSES (RM)	PERCENTAGE (%)
1	V11000	18,000.00	17,998.50	99.99%
2	V14000		MD	
3	V21000	10,000.00	9,890.57	98.91%
4	V22000			
5	V23000			
6	V24000			
7	V26000			

8	V27000	28,834.00	28,832.00	99.99%
9	V28000			
10	V29000	13,905.00	13,904.72	99.99%
11	V35000	6,800.00	6,800.00	100%
TOTAL		77,539.00	77,425.79	99.85%

